THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Dec 02 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III
Chief Administrative Law Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001323

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT CASE NO.: 18-ALJ-07-0358-CC

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT CASE NO.: 18-ALJ-07-0360-CC

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT CASE NO.: 18-ALJ-07-0366-CC

CareAlliance Health Services, d/b/a Roper St. Francis Healthcare,
Roper Hospital, Inc., Bon Secours-St. Francis Xavier Hospital, Inc.,
Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital and Roper Mount Pleasant
Hospital,.....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THAT THE DE NOVO HEARING BEFORE THE ALC CURED THE DEPARTMENT'S NUMEROUS AND MATERIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS OWN REGULATIONS IN REVIEWING AND APPROVING MUHA'S CON APPLICATION?

II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN INTERPRETING THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF STANDARD 5 OF THE STATE HEALTH PLAN THAT AN APPLICANT MUST JUSTIFY THE NEED AND ADVERSE IMPACT FOR A NEW HOSPITAL "AT THE CHOSEN SITE" TO BE MERELY DESCRIPTIVE OF WHERE THE NEW HOSPITAL IS LOCATED RATHER THAN A REQUIREMENT THAT THE APPLICANT JUSTIFY NEED AND ADVERSE IMPACT AT THE LOCATION OF THE PROPOSED NEW HOSPITAL?

III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN APPROVING MUHA'S CON APPLICATION ON THE CONDITION THAT MUHA CLOSE ITS FREESTANDING EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT ("FSED"), GIVEN THAT THE UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD IS THAT MUHA DOES NOT INTEND TO CLOSE THE FSED AND GIVEN THAT THE ALC CONCLUDED THAT, IN THE ABSENCE OF CLOSURE OF THE FSED, MUHA'S PROPOSED HOSPITAL DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE STATE HEALTH PLAN?

IV. DOES THE APPEAL BOND REQUIRED BY S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-7-220(B)(2018) IMPERMISSIBLY IMPAIR APPELLANTS' RIGHT TO JUDICIAL REVIEW IN VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS GUARANTEES OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 27, 2017, the Respondent Medical University Hospital Authority d/b/a MUHA Community Hospital ("MUHA") filed a Certificate of Need ("CON") application with the Respondent Department of Health and Environmental Control ("Department") to establish a 128-bed community hospital ("Proposed Hospital") in Nexton, a planned development located in Berkeley County, South Carolina. (**DHEC Ex. 1, pp. 0001, 0009, 0025**). On March 22, 2018, the Respondent CareAlliance Health Services, d/b/a Roper St. Francis Healthcare; Roper Hospital, Inc.; Bon Secours-St. Francis Xavier Hospital, Inc.; Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital; and Roper Mount Pleasant Hospital (collectively, "Roper") notified the Department of its status as an affected person who opposed the Proposed Hospital. (**DHEC Ex. 1, pp. 0676-0677**). By separate

letters, dated April 19, 2018, the Appellants Trident Medical Center, LLC, d/b/a Trident Medical Center and Summerville Medical Center (collectively, “Trident Health”) notified the Department of their status as affected persons and of their opposition to the Proposed Hospital. (**DHEC Ex. 1, pp. 0678-0683; 0684-0686**). The Appellant Walterboro Community Hospital, Inc., d/b/a Colleton Medical Center (“CMC”) filed its similar notice with the Department on July 10, 2018. (**DHEC Ex. 1, pp. 0690-0691**).¹

On July 23, 2018, the Department issued its decision approving MUHA’s Proposed Hospital. (**DHEC Ex. 1, pp. 1009-1012**). Trident Health, CMC, and Roper timely submitted separate requests for a final review conference before the Board of the Department, which requests were declined on September 10, 2018. On October 5, 2018, Roper filed a request with the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) for a contested case hearing on the Department’s decision. Trident Health and CMC followed suit and filed their requests for contested case hearing on October 9, 2018. The ALC consolidated the requests for contested case review by order dated December 4, 2018, and conducted a hearing on the merits over the course of ten days between November 6, 2019 and November 21, 2019.

On July 8, 2020, the ALC issued its decision approving MUHA’s CON application. Trident Health, CMC and Roper timely filed Motions for Reconsideration raising issues overlooked or misapprehended by the ALC. In response, the ALC rescinded its original order and, on September 4, 2020, issued its Final Amended Order (“Order”) addressing some of the issues raised in the Motions for Reconsideration, but preserving its original decision to approve MUHA’s Proposed

¹ The Regional Medical Center of Orangeburg and Calhoun Counties also submitted a letter of opposition to the Department but it did not request further review of the Department decision. (**DHEC Ex. 1, pp. 0696-0699**).

Hospital. (**R. pp. ___**). On October 2, 2020, Trident Health, CMC and Roper filed their Notices of Appeal of the ALC's Order.

On October 7, 2020, Trident Health and CMC filed a joint motion seeking relief from the posting of a \$1.5 million bond required by S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-220(B)(2018) ("Appeal Bond") on the grounds that such Appeal Bond is unconstitutional under the Equal Protection and Due Process Clauses of the U.S. Constitution and the S.C. Constitution. (**R. pp. ___**). Roper filed its similar Motion for Relief from Appeal Bond on October 9, 2020. On October 23, 2020 Roper dismissed its appeal in this matter, leaving Trident Health and CMC as the only Appellants.

On October 29, 2020, MUHA filed its Motion to Dismiss Appeal and Return to the Appellants' Motion for Relief from Appeal Bond. (**R. pp. ___**). On November 3, 2020, Trident Health and CMC filed their Return to MUHA's Motion to Dismiss and their Reply to MUHA's Return to the Motion for Relief from Appeal Bond. (**R. pp. ___**). On November 13, MUHA replied to Appellant's Return to the Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (**R. pp. ___**). On November 25, 2020, the Court issued its order denying Appellants' Motion for Relief from Appeal Bond and denying MUHA's Motion to Dismiss but granting the parties the right to brief their arguments in full. (**R. pp. ___**).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The ALC heard this matter and issued its Final Order containing its findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to the contested case review authority granted by S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-600 (Supp. 2019). Under that authority, the ALC sits as the fact finder in a *de novo* hearing with the presentation of evidence and testimony. *See Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 207-208, 712 S.E.2d 428, 433 (2011) (The ALC is the ultimate fact finder in a contested case proceeding.). In recognition of the ALC's role as the ultimate administrative

fact finder in a contested case, the law limits the judicial review of an ALC's final decision as follows:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2019).

As summarized by the South Carolina Supreme Court:

In determining whether the ALC's decision was supported by substantial evidence, the Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, that evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion as the ALC. *Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 9-10, 698 S.E.2d 612, 617 (2010). However, the Court may reverse the decision of the ALC where it is in violation of a statutory provision or it is affected by an error of law. *Alltel Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 316, 731 S.E.2d 869, 870-71 (2012).

Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 411 S.C. 16, 28, 766 S.E.2d 707, 715 (2014). The above standard of review applies to Appellants' Issues I, II, and III, which concern matters raised before the ALC.

Appellants' Issue IV, concerning the constitutionality of the Appeal Bond, is raised for the first time on appeal to this Court because, factually, the issue was not ripe before the ALC in that no Appeal Bond is required until after the ALC process ends, and because, under the established case law, the ALC lacks the authority to determine facial challenges to the constitutionality of a statute. *See Travelscape, LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 391 S.C. 89, 109, 705 S.E.2d 28, 38-39

(2011) (“We wish to reiterate that our decision today does not affect the ALC’s inability to decide facial challenges to a statute or regulation; those are legal questions that are properly raised for the first time on appeal or in a declaratory judgment action before the circuit court.”). Because Issue IV involves a question of law, the Court’s standard of review for this issue is de novo. *See Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009)(“This Court reviews all questions of law de novo.”).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS²

A. Certificate of Need Program

This case arises under the Certificate of Need program for health care facilities and services. The framework of the CON program is established by the State Certification of Need and Health Facility Licensure Act found at S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-7-110, *et seq.* (2018 and Supp. 2019) (the “CON Act”), the regulations set forth at 3 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 (Supp. 2019) (the “CON Regulations”), and the South Carolina Health Plan (collectively the “CON Law”). The Department is the sole state agency that administers the granting of Certificates of Need and the licensure of health facilities in South Carolina. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-140 (2018). As such, the Department reviewed MUHA’s CON application and made the initial decision to grant MUHA’s CON application to establish its Proposed Hospital. **(DHEC Ex. 1, p. 1009-1013).**

The stated goals of the CON Act are to "promote cost containment, prevent unnecessary duplication of health care facilities and services, guide the establishment of health facilities and services which will best serve public needs, and ensure that high quality services are provided in health facilities in this State." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-120 (2018). These goals are implemented through the requirement that a provider apply for, and receive, a CON from the Department prior

² The Appellants set forth additional facts relevant to specific issues in the Argument sections of this brief. *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(E), SCACR.

to establishing a new health facility or service, adding beds, making large capital expenditures or acquiring medical equipment when the total project cost exceeds a certain threshold amount. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-7-120 and 44-7-160 (2018).

In determining whether to grant or deny a CON application, the Department must evaluate the proposed project under the project review criteria found in the CON regulations (“PRC”)³ and under the applicable standards of the South Carolina Health Plan in effect at the time the application is filed. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-225 (2018). In this case, the 2017-2018 South Carolina Health Plan (“State Health Plan” or “Plan”) is applicable.

Under the CON Act, the Department cannot grant a CON unless the project complies with the State Health Plan, the PRC and other regulations. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-210(B) (2018). The CON Regulations also mandate that “no project may be approved unless it is consistent with the State Health Plan.” 3 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 801(3) (Supp. 2019). *See MRI at Belfair, LLC v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 379 S.C. 1, 9, 664 S.E.2d 471, 475 (2008) (Plan standards and Project Review Criteria are separate and distinct requirements that must be met as part of the CON application process.).

B. Parties

(i) MUHA

MUHA, the CON applicant and intended licensee of the Proposed Hospital, is an agency of the State of South Carolina, created under S.C. Code Ann. § 59-123-60(E) (2020) to support its

³ The PRC consist of 33 general criteria, which are set forth in 3 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 802 (Supp. 2019). For ease of reference each criterion will be referred to using “PRC” in place of the full regulatory citation. For example, 3 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 802(2)(b) is cited as PRC 2(b).

affiliated state agency, the Medical University of South Carolina (“MUSC”).⁴ MUHA is charged under the law with governing and operating MUSC’s hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare and related facilities and is funded by revenues from its clinical operations, specific appropriations from the State, and grants and donations from third parties. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 59-123-60(E)(9) and (11) (2020); (**Goodlett Tr., Vol III, 691:5-692:10.**).

MUHA owns and operates MUSC Health University Medical Center, an academic medical center located on the peninsula in downtown Charleston (“MUSC Medical Center”).⁵ (**Cawley Tr., Vol. III, 392:2-23**). As an academic institution, MUSC Medical Center provides general acute care hospital services but also provides tertiary and quaternary services, which are specialized services such as solid organ transplants and comprehensive neonatal intensive care delivered to high acuity patients. No other hospital provider in Charleston, Berkeley, and Dorchester Counties (the “Tri-County Service Area”) offers quaternary services, although Trident Medical Center, located in North Charleston, and Roper Hospital in downtown Charleston do offer tertiary services, such as open heart surgery. (**Sullivan Tr., Vol. II, 561:10-20; Cawley Tr., Vol. III, 386:4-14; Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 26:8-24; Johnson Tr., Vol. I, 191:11-14**).

Unlike MUSC Medical Center, MUHA’s Proposed Hospital will be a community hospital that treats only non-tertiary patients. (**DHEC Ex. 1, p. 00014**). All of the providers who opposed

⁴ MUSC is an institution of higher learning whose function, as set forth in its enabling legislation, is to appoint faculty and confer degrees in medicine, dental medicine, pharmacy, nursing, and health-related professions upon students and other persons. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-123-60(A)(2) (2020).

⁵ At the time of the hearing, MUSC Medical Center was licensed for 657 acute care beds. (**DHEC Ex. 4, p. 0032**). After the Department issued its decision approving MUHA’s Proposed Hospital in Berkeley County, MUHA acquired an additional 715 acute care hospital beds as result of its \$137 million purchase of Springs Hospital in Lancaster County, Carolinas Hospital System in Florence County, Chester Regional in Chester County, and Marion Regional Medical Center in Marion County. (**Goodlett Tr., Vol III, 699:15-700:14**).

MUHA's Proposed Hospital – Roper, Trident Health and Colleton Medical Center – currently offer the same services as will be provided at MUHA's Proposed Hospital.⁶ (**Bosse Tr., Vol. I, 129:14-21; Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 65:2-7; Hiott Tr., Vol. II, 245:19 – 246:4**).

ii. Trident Health

Trident Health operates two acute care hospitals in the Tri-County Service Area: Trident Medical Center, located in North Charleston, and Summerville Medical Center, located in Dorchester County. (**Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 23:13-22; 30:21-23**).⁷ At the time of the hearing, Trident Medical Center was licensed for 322 beds, including medical/surgical beds, psychiatric beds, and inpatient rehabilitation beds. (**Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 126:20-25**). As noted, among the services offered at Trident Medical Center are open heart surgery services and Level II trauma services. (**Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 35:4-38:8**). MUHA's Proposed Hospital is to be located in the center of Trident Medical Center's primary service area, just six minutes from the ZIP Code from which Trident draws the majority of its patients. (**Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 76:11-80:22**).

Summerville Medical Center is licensed to operate 124 medical/surgical beds. (**Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 51:16-19**). In addition to providing the full range of general hospital services, Summerville Medical Center provides all of the perinatal and neonatal services for Trident Health through its

⁶ Roper operates four acute care hospitals in the Tri-County Service Area, including Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital (“Roper–Berkeley”), located in Berkeley County about four miles from MUHA's Proposed Hospital. (**Bosse Tr., Vol I, 94:16-24; 109:2-110:3**). Although Roper is no longer a party appellant, in terms of the issue of need and unnecessary duplication of services, Roper's presence in the market remains relevant to this appeal.

⁷ On May 26, 2016, Trident Medical Center was issued a CON to construct Berkeley Medical Center, a 50-bed hospital to be located in Moncks Corner in Berkeley County. Because of wetlands' issues, Berkeley Medical Center is in the pre-construction phase and was not operational at the time of hearing. (**DHEC Ex. 4, p. 0033, n. 10; Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 30:17-20; 62:10-23**). Because of its status at the time of hearing as approved but not yet operational, the ALC declined to consider Berkeley Medical Center in its determination of the need for MUHA's Proposed Project. (**Order, p. 30, n. 40**).

Level II perinatal center. (**Valentine, Vol. II, p. 177:24-178:7**). MUHA's Proposed Hospital is located within a fifteen-minute drive of Summerville Medical Center and within twelve to thirteen minutes of Summerville Medical Center's primary service area ZIP Codes. (**Valentine, Vol. II, p. 187:1-10**). As a system, Trident Health gets 80% of its total patient volume from Berkeley and Dorchester Counties, with the remainder coming from Charleston County. (**Gallati Tr., Vol. II, 75:8-13**).

iii. Colleton Medical Center

CMC, which is located in Walterboro in rural Colleton County, South Carolina, is licensed to operate 116 medical/surgical beds, of which 84 are set up and staffed for use. (**Hiott Tr., Vol. II, 212:2-4; 221:1-10; 224:4-6; 229:20-25; 233:10-11**). CMC provides basic inpatient and outpatient medical and surgical services to the community it serves. (**Hiott Tr., Vol II, 221:13-222:1**). Although CMC is the only hospital in Colleton County, it competes with Roper and MUHA for patients located in its service area. (**Hiott Tr., Vol II, 231:22-232:15**). According to the redirection analysis contained in MUHA's CON application, MUHA expected to redirect 10% to 30% of its current patients residing in certain Colleton County ZIP Codes to its Proposed Hospital. (**Hiott Tr., Vol. II, 247:18-250:10**). MUHA amended its redirection analysis before the hearing to reduce the expected percentage of patients from Colleton County to 2% because Colleton is outside the Tri-County Service Area. Nevertheless, even the amended analysis signals MUHA's expectation that it can redirect patients who are within 40 to 60 minutes' drive times of the Proposed Hospital, which drive times include Colleton County. (**Trident Ex. 94; Levitt Tr., Vol. III, 1297:21-1298:6**). CMC is a rural hospital that has suffered low inpatient utilization because of the lack of population growth and losses in net income every year since 2014. (**Hiott Tr., Vol. II, 230:1-234:23**).

C. MUHA CON Application

In its CON application, MUHA proposes to establish a \$325 million, 128-bed community hospital in Berkeley County near the I-26 and Highway 17A interchange, twenty-eight miles from MUHA's downtown MUSC Medical Center facilities. **(DHEC Ex. 1, pp. 0009, 0025; Sullivan Tr., Vol. II, 432:17-23)**. MUHA sought to establish its Proposed Hospital under Standard 5 of the State Health Plan, which allows a facility with a bed need to utilize such need to create a new hospital at a different site within the same service area subject to certain conditions. **(DHEC Ex. 4, p. 0015)**. Under the Plan, MUHA had a stated need for 147 additional beds at MUSC Medical Center in downtown Charleston. **(DHEC Ex. 1, p. 0023; DHEC Ex. 4, p. 0032)**. In its application MUHA proposed to use a portion of this need to create a new 128-bed community hospital in Berkeley County for the stated purpose of addressing and alleviating capacity constraints at MUSC Medical Center by shifting lower acuity patients away from MUSC Medical Center and providing primary and secondary care to those patients at the Proposed Hospital twenty-eight miles away.⁸ **(DHEC Ex. 1, p. 0023)**. MUHA claimed that this shift in the treatment location for lower acuity patients would allow MUHA to provide better access to the tertiary and quaternary services it provides at MUSC Medical Center. **(DHEC Ex. 1, p. 0023)**.

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