RECEIVED

May 05 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001323

Case No. 18-ALJ-07-0358-CC

Case No. 18-ALJ-07-0360-CC

Case No. 18-ALJ-07-0366-CC

CareAlliance Health Services, d/b/a Roper St. Francis Healthcare, Roper Hospital, Inc., Bon Secours-St. Francis Xavier Hospital, Inc., Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital, and Roper Mount Pleasant Hospital.Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, and Medical University Hospital Authority, d/b/a MUHA Community Hospital,..... Respondents,

AND

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

This Court should dismiss these appeals for failure to post the appeal bonds required by § 44-7-220(B). (Arg. IV, *infra*). Dismissal on this ground moots all other issues.

The appellant hospitals do not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence of record to support the ALC’s order. Rather, they argue that Standard 5 imposes a rule of evidence that limits the relevant evidence to patients living within a 10-mile radius of the proposed hospital. (App. Br. Arg. II). Based on this imaginary evidentiary wall, the appellants complain that the ALC erred in considering evidence from the entire Tri-County Service Area. (*Id.*). This argument is manifestly without merit because *inter alia* Standard 5

[T]he number of patients that will redirect from [from CMC to the proposed hospital] is *likely to be small*. . . . [B]ecause CMC is already in a vulnerable [financial] position [not attributable to MUHA], what would be a relatively insignificant redirection of patients may be more material to CMC. However, the impact to a hospital teetering on insolvency must be weighed against the benefits of increasing access to the target population and MUHA’s patients at its downtown hospital. This factor, when viewed in combination with CMC’s *location outside the service area*, leads the Court to conclude that the *minimal adverse impact* to CMC *does not outweigh the benefits of increased accessibility* provided by MUHA. For these reasons, I *find any adverse impact to CMC is justified* and the *benefits* of MUHA’s proposed hospital *outweigh any adverse impact* to CMC.

(R-1 at 42, emphasis added). The appellants’ brief makes only passing references to CMC and does not challenge the findings and rulings about CMC. (App. Br., *passim*).

As to former appellant CareAlliance, which owns and operates the “Roper” hospitals, and which settled with MUHA before filing a brief, the ALC reached the same conclusions based upon MUHA’s evidence having demonstrated compliance with and satisfaction of all requirements for the proposed hospital, including need, adverse impact, and the balance between adverse impact and increased access. (See generally R-1 at 39-41).

contains no 10-mile language and accepting the appellants' interpretation would interfere with the healthcare planning purpose of the State Health Plan. (See Arg. I, *infra*).

The appellant hospitals also argue that procedural errors by DHEC during its review process precluded DHEC from conducting a meaningful review of the proposed hospital. As a result, DHEC approved the application, which meant the appellants were the petitioners in the ALC with the burden of proof. They contend that the *de novo* hearing before the ALC could not and did not cure the prejudice of being the party with the burden of proof in the ALC. (App. Br. Arg. I). This "burden of proof" argument has no merit, because it misperceives how the burden of proof operates in a *de novo* hearing governed by the "preponderance of evidence" standard of proof. More importantly, the appellants ignore the ALC's actual and repeated factual findings that MUHA established compliance with and satisfaction of all requirements for the proposed hospital (despite not having the burden of proof). (See Arg. II, *infra*; see also Endnotes 1 and 2, *infra* at 42-45).²⁰

ARGUMENT²¹

Overview of the State Health Plan

DHEC is the sole state agency for administering the CON program created by the CON Act.²² DHEC's mission is to "guide the establishment of health facilities and services which will *best serve public needs*, and ensure that high quality services are provided in

²⁰ The appellants also complain about MUHA's separately proposed freestanding emergency room. (App. Br. Arg. III). This is a red herring. MUHA will close it upon opening the new hospital. (See Arg. III, *infra*).

²¹ MUHA adopts and incorporates the arguments presented by DHEC in support of the appealed order.

²² S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-140 (Rev. 2018) ("the sole state agency for control and administration of the granting of Certificates of Need and licensure of health facilities and other activities necessary to be carried out under [the CON Act]").

health facilities in this State.” (Emphasis added).²³ To that end, the CON Act directs DHEC to do two things relevant here. First, DHEC must promulgate by regulation the Project Review Criteria (PRC) for evaluating all CON applications.²⁴ Second, DHEC must produce a State Health Plan at least once every two years.²⁵

The CON Act creates a health planning committee to advise the DHEC staff in drafting a State Health Plan “for use in the administration of the [CON] program.”²⁶ The committee submits the draft to the DHEC Board “for final review and adoption.”²⁷ The Plan must include “a *general statement* as to the project review criteria considered most important in evaluating [CON] applications *for each type* of facility [and service], including a finding as to *whether the benefits of improved accessibility . . . may outweigh the adverse effects* caused by the duplication of any existing facility [and service].”²⁸

The State Health Plan includes the following general provisions on DHEC’s use of the Plan as a tool in administering the CON program:

1. As required by the CON Act, the Plan contains a “the project review criteria considered to be the most important in evaluating [CON] applications for each type of facility [and service].” (R-12 at 5351-5352). This “*general statement* has been

²³ The General Assembly specifically declared the purpose of the CON Act in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-120 (Rev. 2018), which provides in full as follows:

The purpose of this article is to promote cost containment, prevent unnecessary duplication of health care facilities and services, guide the establishment of health facilities and services which will best serve public needs, and ensure that high quality services are provided in health facilities in this State. To achieve these purposes, this article requires:

- (1) the issuance of a Certificate of Need before undertaking a project prescribed by this article;
- (2) adoption of procedures and criteria for submittal of an application and appropriate review before issuance of a Certificate of Need;
- (3) preparation and publication of a State Health Plan;
- (4) the licensure of facilities rendering medical, nursing, and other health care.

²⁴ S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-7-190 (Rev. 2018).

²⁵ S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-7-120(3) (Rev. 2018) (prepare/publish) and -180(C) (Rev. 2018) (every two years).

²⁶ S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-180 (A) & (B) (Rev. 2018).

²⁷ S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-180(C) (Rev. 2018).

²⁸ S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-180(B)(4) (Rev. 2018) (emphasis added).

added to most sections of the Plan” and, “[w]here appropriate, the Plan contains a finding as to whether” the benefits of improved access outweigh any adverse effects caused by duplication of any existing facility and service. (Id. at R-12 at 5352) (emphasis added).

2. “The *need* for a service is analyzed by assessment of existing resources and need *in the relevant service area*, along with other factors set forth in this Plan, applicable statutes and regulations.” (Id. at R-12 at 5355) (emphasis added).
3. “The *need* for general hospital beds [like those at issue here] is determined through the consideration of current *utilization* and *projected population* growth with the goal of having beds *available* within approximately thirty (300 minutes’ travel time for the majority of residents of the State.” (Id. at R-12 at 5359) (emphasis added).

The State Health Plan identifies seven “project review criteria” as the “general statement” on which project review criteria are considered most important in evaluating proposed hospitals.²⁹ The Plan further directs that the “*benefits of improved accessibility* will be *equally weighed* with the *adverse effects of duplication* in evaluating [CON] applications for these beds.” (R-12 at 5363) (emphasis added).³⁰

I. The appellant hospitals’ interpretation of Standard 5 of the State Health Plan is manifestly without merit.

A. Introduction

Standard 5 of the State Health Plan allows an existing hospital with an existing bed need (like MUHA Downtown) to build a new hospital at a different site and transfer those beds to the new hospital rather than enlarging the existing hospital. Standard 5 requires the existing hospital to present “patient origin and other data” to justify the proposed hospital as follows:

²⁹ This brief focuses on need, adverse impact, distribution, and access, because these factors relate directly to the appellants’ appellate arguments. As to the other issues, about which the appellants make no argument or complaint, the ALC’s order also finds that MUHA proved compliance with and satisfaction of all requirements. (R-1 at 4-73, *passim*).

³⁰ See Arg. I, *infra*, for a discussion of these criteria, the ALC’s findings on these criteria, and the appellants’ arguments about those criteria.

A facility may apply to create a new additional hospital at a *different site within the same service area* through the transfer of existing licensed beds, the projected bed need for the facility, or a combination of both existing beds and projected bed need. The facility is not required to have a projected need for additional beds in order to create a new additional hospital. There is no required minimum number of beds in order to approve the CON application. The applicant must *justify, through patient origin and other data, the need for a new hospital at the chosen site* and the potential adverse impact a new hospital at the chosen site could have on the existing hospitals in the service area.

(R-12 at 5360-5361) (emphasis added). The meaning of “at the chosen site” as used in Standard 5 became an issue before the ALC.

The appellant hospitals argued that “at the chosen site” defined and limited the permissible scope of evidence under Standard 5 in two ways. First, the “patient origin and other data” used to justify need must show there is a need “‘near’ the geographic site of the new hospital,” which the appellants now argue is a 10-mile radius around the proposed hospital. (R-1 at 59; Init. App. Br. Arg. II). Second, Standard 5 thus precludes consideration of evidence from the entire service area, *i.e.*, the Tri-County Service Area, despite the fact “service areas” are the fundamental building block for healthcare planning under the State Health Plan. (Id.).

The ALC rejected these arguments in a detailed analysis spanning three pages.³¹ The ALC concluded that patient origin and other data should be based upon the service area in

³¹ The ALC analyzed and ruled upon the appellants’ arguments as follows:

1. The ordinary rules of statutory construction apply to issues on the meaning of the State Health Plan, including the following rules.
 - a. The plain meaning of the words used in Standard 5 are a primary inquiry.
 - b. Standard 5 cannot be construed by concentrating on the isolated phrase of “at the chosen site.”
 - c. Rather, the meaning of “at the chosen site” must be determined in the context of Standard 5 as a whole, as well as the role of Standard 5 in the State Health Plan as a whole, together with the underlying purpose and intent of the drafter.
2. The appellant hospitals’ construction of Standard 5 and “at the chosen site” as a geographic limitation on the permissible evidence fails for the following reasons.

the State Health Plan, because it is “the most practical and reasonable interpretation that is consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers [DHEC Board].” (R-1 at 62).

- B. The appellants fail to challenge the ALC’s analysis and ruling, thereby making it the law of this case.

On appeal, the appellant hospitals quote parts of the ALC’s 3-page analysis and summarily dismiss it with the phrases “contorts the plain language of Standard” and “strained construction of Standard 5.” (Init. App. Br. 24). These conclusory sentence fragments are insufficient to challenge the ALC’s analysis of the issue and its ruling; the issue is therefore deemed abandoned.³² There being no challenge to the ALC’s analysis

-
- a. The appellants ignore the plain meaning of “at the chosen site” within the context of Standard 5 as whole. It is an adjective phrase that describes the new hospital and its location so as to differentiate it from the existing hospital and its location.
 - b. The phrase “at the chosen site” is used twice within Standard 5, and the appellants’ interpretation of it makes no sense for its second use in Standard 5, .i.e., the second use of “at the chosen site” is in the context of a directive to consider the entire service area.
 - c. Accepting the appellants’ interpretation would result in a conflict with how the State Health Plan as a whole treats the issue of “need” as being a service area issue. If the drafters of the State Health Plan [DHEC Board] intended Standard 5 to introduce a new geographic term, they would have defined that term.
 - d. The purpose of Standard 5 is to allow the transfer of beds within the service area, and that same service area is the context for justifying need, just like it is for adverse impact.
 - e. The appellants’ isolate the term “at,” define it to mean “near,” then use “near” to mean a short distance from the site of the new hospital, and ultimately define “near” (i.e., “at”) to mean a 10-mile radius around the site the new hospital. This argument fails for the following reasons.
 - f. The appellants’ interpretation is questionable on its face, because being 10 miles away is a substantial distance that does not comport with what many would perceive as being “near” the site of the hospital.
 - g. Moreover, if the service area is not the relevant geographic area, then the relevant area would be the “30-minute drive time” area used elsewhere in the State Health Plan. Accepting the appellants’ 10-mile radius would require an unreasonable assumption that cars in the area average only 20 miles per hour.
 - h. Thus, the appellants’ construction of “at the chosen site” to mean a “short distance” from the proposed hospital is not practical or reasonable.

(R-1 at 59-62).

³² See *Englert, Inc. v. Netherlands Ins. Co.*, 433 S.E.2d 871, 873 n.2 (S.C. App. 2011) (single sentence argument too conclusory to present issue on appeal); *Bean v. South Carolina Cent. R.R. Co.*, 709 S.E.2d 99, 113 (S.C. App. 2011) (same).

and ruling, it becomes the law of this case and, right or wrong, requires affirmance.³³ In any event, the ALC's analysis and ruling is correct for the detailed reasons set forth in the appealed order and should be affirmed for those reasons. Moreover, the ALC's ruling should be affirmed for the additional reasons set forth below.

C. The appellant hospitals' appellate arguments have no merit.

On appeal, the appellant hospitals construct an argument that concludes the only "patient origin and other data" allowed to justify "need" and "adverse impact" under Standard 5 must come from within a 10-mile radius around the proposed hospital site:

1. a need for hospital services "must actually exist[] in the geographic area where the [new] hospital is to be located" and that is not true in this case, because appellant Trident's two hospitals are within a 10-mile radius of the new hospital and provide the same services in sufficient numbers (Init. App. Br. 23);
2. the phrase "at the chosen site" is "a geographic boundary on the proof needed under Standard 5 to justify a new hospital" (Id. at 25);
3. the ALC's ruling "renders geographic proximity and the words 'at the chosen site' meaningless because it would allow an applicant to move its bed need and create a new hospital without a consideration of the proximity of the new hospital to other existing providers and the services they provide" (Id. at 26); and
4. Standard 5 requires proof "that the patients at the chosen site of the new hospital in Berkeley 'need' the community hospital services being offered by" the new hospital. (Id.).

Armed with this imaginary 10-mile evidence rule, the appellants complain that the ALC allowed MUHA's plan to decant low acuity patients from MUHA Downtown to the new hospital and thereby make room for more high acuity patients at MUHA Downtown "to substitute for need at the chosen site." (Id.). In short, the appellant hospitals contend that Standard 5 limits the "patient origin and other data" that can justify the need for and the

³³ See *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (S.C. 1970) (unchallenged ruling is the law of the case and, right or wrong, requires affirmance).

adverse impact of a proposed hospital to evidence emanating from within a 10-mile radius of the proposed hospital. This argument is manifestly without merit for numerous reasons.

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